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       UNITED STATES  DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA * CRIMINAL DOCKET NO.  07-103

v. * SECTION: “L”

JAMES PERDIGAO *
a/k/a JAMIE PERDIGAO

     *     *     *

GOVERNMENT’S RESPONSE  TO DEFENDANT’S  MOTION AND INCORPORATED
PRELIMINARY MEMORANDUM RENEWING AND AMENDING HIS MOTION  FOR

AN ADVERSARY HEARING, SPECIFYING RELIEF DESIRED AND MOVING TO
SCHEDULE PROCEEDINGS FOR RETURN OF PROPERTY 

NOW  INTO  COURT comes the United States of America, appearing herein by and

through the undersigned Assistant United States Attorneys, who submit this Response to Defendant’s

Motion and Incorporated Preliminary Memorandum renewing and amending his motion for an

adversary hearing, specifying relief desired and moving to schedule proceedings for return of

property. 

I.   INTRODUCTION

On October 15, 2004, defendant James Perdigao a/k/a Jamie Perdigao (“Perdigao”)

was  arrested pursuant to a criminal complaint and arrest warrant. Incident to Perdigao’s arrest,
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federal law enforcement agents seized two cashier’s checks in the amounts of $665,000.00 and

$530,000.00, and $25,052.27 in cash.  Within approximately two days before defendant’s arrest, the

government learned that from October 6, 2004, to October 12, 2004, Perdigao had made several wire

transfers totaling $19,205,000.00 into a bank account in the name of “James Gunther Perdigao” in

Credit Suisse Bank in Zurich, Switzerland.  On November 9, 2004, the government applied for and

obtained a protective and repatriation order pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section

853(e)(1)(A) and (4), to preserve the property subject to forfeiture.  Defendant agreed to the

repatriation of these funds to the United States into the custody of the United States Marshal’s

Service.  Defendant then agreed to several extensions of the protective order.

On March 11, 2005, the law firm of Adams & Reese turned over $9,099,610.59 to

the custody of the United States Marshal’s Service because of Perdigao’s pending criminal matter

that involved the law firm. Perdigao had returned and relinquished these funds to Adams & Reese

after the law firm discovered defendant’s fraud scheme. He had returned these funds to Adams &

Reese prior to his Swiss wire transfers.

On March 16, 2007, a  federal Grand Jury in the Eastern District of Louisiana returned

a fifty nine (59)-count Indictment against defendant charging him with bank fraud, mail fraud,

interstate transportation of stolen funds, money laundering, income tax evasion, and filing false tax

return, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1344, 1341, 2314, and 1957, and Title

26, United States Code, Sections 7201 and 7206, respectively. The Indictment also provided for

forfeiture of any and all property constituting or deriving from proceeds obtained directly or

indirectly from the mail fraud and bank fraud violations.  The Indictment further sought forfeiture

of all property involved in the money laundering violations as well as all property traceable to such
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violations, including $30,000,000.00.        

After the Indictment, the government applied to this Court for a post-indictment

restraining order pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(e)(1)(A), in order to preserve

the availability of the funds that are subject to forfeiture.  In response to the government’s application

for the restraining order, defendant moved for an adversary hearing, or in the alternative, for the

release of assets to pay attorney’s fees, defense costs, and to pay his federal income taxes.  This

application for the restraining order is still pending before this Court.

  On July 27, 2007, a federal Grand Jury in the Eastern District of Louisiana returned

a fifty nine (59)-count Superseding Indictment against Perdigao charging him with the same

violations contained in the original Indictment. The Superseding Indictment, however, charges a

greater amount in the mail fraud-false billing invoices scheme as well as in the interstate

transportation of stolen property scheme.  Furthermore, the Superseding Indictment contains an

additional notice of forfeiture for the interstate transportation of stolen property charges, seeking

forfeiture of any property that constitutes or is traceable to the violations including approximately

$23,000.000.00.

On September 26, 2008, the defendant filed a Motion renewing and amending his

motion for an adversary hearing, specifying relief desired and moving the schedule proceedings for

return of property.    

II.  DISCUSSION

A. Defendant is not entitled to the return of property pursuant to Fed.R.Crim.P.
41(g)because he has an adequate remedy at law.

Defendant moves this Court for the return of property pursuant to Rule 41(g) of the
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Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.  Defendant’s motion should be denied because he has an

adequate remedy at law in the criminal proceedings.  “A Rule 41(g) motion is an equitable remedy

that is available only when there is no adequate remedy at law and the equities favor the exercise of

jurisdiction.”  De Almeida v. United States, 459 F.3d 377, 382 (2  Cir. 2006).  Furthermore,nd

“[g]enerally, a Rule 41(e) [Rule 41(g) was formerly Rule 41(e)] motion is properly denied ‘if the

defendant is not entitled to lawful possession of the seized property, the property is contraband or

subject to forfeiture or the government’s need for the property as evidence continues.’” United States

v. Chambers, 192 F.3d 374, 377 (3  Cir. 1999)(citing United States. v. Van Cauwenberghe, 934 F.2drd

1048, 1067 (9  Cir. 1991)).  th

Here, Perdigao is not entitled to lawful possession of the seized funds because these

funds have been found to be subject to forfeiture as proceeds or involved in the crimes alleged in the

Superseding Indictment.  Furthermore, defendant has an adequate remedy at law in that he has the

opportunity to have a hearing and contest the restraint of the seized funds if he can make the

necessary showing to this Court under Holy Land Foundation for Relief and Development, 493 F.3d

469 (5  Cir. 2007), and Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976).  (Section F of the Government’sth

Response, see infra, discusses this issue at length).   Therefore, the government respectfully submits

that defendant’s Rule 41(g) motion be denied.

B. The amounts of illegal proceeds alleged in the Notices of Forfeiture for mail fraud and
bank fraud are not included in the amount of illegal proceeds alleged in Notice of
interstate transportation of stolen funds and therefore.  The government is not double
counting.

Defendant argues that the approximately $7 million claimed in the Notice of mail
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fraud forfeiture  and the approximately $2,700,000 claimed in the Notice of bank fraud forfeiture are

part and parcel of the approximately $23 million in the Notice of interstate transportation of stolen

property (“ITSP”) forfeiture.  However, a review of the charges alleged in the Superseding

Indictment reveals that the illegal proceeds amounts from the bank fraud and mail fraud are not

included in the illegal proceeds amount from the ITSP.  The bank fraud charges involve defendant’s

schemes to steal checks that belonged to or payable to the law firm of Adams & Reese (Counts 1-11)

and from Harrah’s (Count 12) and then depositing these checks directly into defendant’s bank

accounts.  Furthermore, the mail fraud charges (Counts 13-30) involve defendant’s false billing

scheme which allowed defendant to receive illegal proceeds in the amount of approximately $7

million directly from Pinnacle and Boomtown.   The ITSP charges (Counts 31-40), on the other1

hand, involve Defendant’s scheme to defraud Adams & Reese by Defendant’s unauthorized

withdrawals directly from the Adams & Reese operating bank account in the amount of

approximately $23 million.  The Superseding Indictment specifically explains each scheme and

shows that the illegal proceeds from the ITSP charges do not include the illegal proceeds from the

mail fraud and bank fraud schemes.  In fact, the Superseding Indictment establishes that the sources

for these illegal proceeds are not the same.  Defendant’s allegation that the government is double

counting is without merit.    

C. The Superseding Indictment describes and explains that the specific amounts alleged
in the Notices of forfeiture from the mail fraud, bank fraud, and ITSP  are illegal
proceeds, and the Notices of forfeiture properly alleged that these amounts are subject
to forfeiture as proceeds from the offenses.

Defendant argues that the Notices of forfeiture for the mail fraud, bank fraud, and
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ITSP in the Superseding Indictment impermissibly expands the concept beyond the terms of the

forfeiture statute.  Defendant’s argument has no merit.  Each Notice of forfeiture for these crimes

tracks the applicable forfeiture language that specifically requests the forfeiture of the proceeds of

the respective violations.  The Notices of forfeiture, then, allege the approximate amounts of these

proceeds for each violation by stating, “including but not limited to” the specific approximate

amounts “and all interests and proceeds traceable thereto in that such sum in aggregate is property

which was involved in the aforesaid offenses or is traceable such property.”  This language does not

change the character of the Notices of forfeiture from a notice that the proceeds from each crime

would be forfeited to something broader in scope.

The indictment should be read as a whole to ascertain how an asset is subject to

forfeiture. United States v. Puma, 937 F.2d 151, 156-157 (5  Cir. 1991).  The Supersedingth

Indictment specifically explains that with regard to the mail fraud charges, defendant’s false billing

scheme involved approximately $7 million, which was the amount of illegal proceeds defendant

derived from Pinnacle and Boomtown.  Similarly, with regard to the ITSP charges, the Superseding

Indictment states that defendant made unauthorized withdrawals from the Adams & Reese operating

bank account in the amount of approximately $23 million, which is the amount of illegal proceeds

defendant derived from these offenses.  

The allegations in the Superseding Indictment pertaining to each charge and the

Notices of forfeiture clearly explain that the basis for the forfeiture of these amounts is that they are

proceeds defendant derived from the respective crimes.  The Grand Jury had probable cause to

believe that these amounts totaling to more than $30 million are proceeds of these crimes, which

is a basis for the continued restraint of these funds.  Therefore, the seized funds in the amount of
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$29,636,909 are properly restrained pursuant to the Grand Jury’s probable cause determination that

these funds are forfeitable.        

D. The forfeiture of the proceeds involved in the money laundering offenses includes the
forfeiture of proceeds that are being laundered.

Defendant argues that the Superseding Indictment does not allege a design to disguise

or conceal any tainted money being wire transferred to Switzerland by commingling it with

legitimate money, and therefore, the funds seized from the Swiss bank account are not subject to

forfeiture.  Defendant’s additional arguments also seem to require that the government show a

substantial nexus between the legitimate funds and the dirty money by showing that the clean money

facilitated the crime.  Defendant’s arguments have no merit.  

The money laundering forfeiture statute, 18 U.S.C. § 982(a)(1),  requires the forfeiture

of all property involved in the money laundering offense.  In looking at the legislative history of this

statute, courts have held that the term “involved in” should be read broadly to include the money or

other property laundered (“the corpus” or “subject matter” of the money laundering offense); any

commissions and fees paid to the money launderer; and  any property used to facilitate the money

laundering offense.  Stefan D. Cassella, Asset Forfeiture Law in the United States, § 27-7, p.806-807

(2007 ed.) ( citing United States v. Tencer, 107 F.3d 1120, 1134 (5  Cir. 1997); United States v.th

Bornfield, 145 F.3d 1123, 1135 (10  Cir. 1998)(following Tencer); United States  v. Hawkey, 148th

F.3d 920, 927-928 (8  Cir. 1998)(following Bornfield and Tencer); and United States v. McGauley,th

279 F.3d 62, 76 n.14 (1st Cir. 2002)(following Bornfield and Tencer and citing the legislative

history)).  Property, other than the specified unlawful activity (“SUA”) proceeds, that are part of or

integral to, the money laundering transaction, such as property that is commingled with the SUA
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proceeds in the course of a money laundering transaction, are foreitable as being involved in the

money laundering because they are the subject matter of the money laundering transaction.   Stefan

D. Cassella, Asset Forfeiture Law in the United States, § 27-7, p.810 (2007 ed.).  The government

has alleged in the Superseding Indictment that the amount of approximately $19,205,000 was

involved in the money laundering offenses in that this amount represents the funds that were stolen,

converted, embezzled and taken by fraud.  This amount, the $19,205,000, is the corpus of the money

laundering offenses, and therefore, in accordance with the statutory and case law, this entire amount

is subject to forfeiture.  Proceeds that are being laundered are forfeitable under 18 U.S.C., §

982(a)(1).  United States v. Millet, 123 F.3d 268, 278 (5  Cir. 1997)(defendant ordered to forfeitth

amount equal to the bribe money he received and then laundered; no discussion); United States  v.

Cleveland, 1997 WL 537707, at *11 (E.D. La. 1997)(property involves includes the proceeds being

laundered, the government is entitled to a money judgment in that amount).  

E. There is no Ex Post Facto violation in the Notices of forfeiture in the Superseding
Indictment because the schemes alleged in the mail fraud and ITSP charges continued
after the effective date of the Civil Asset Forfeiture Reform Act (“CAFRA”).

Defendant alleges that the forfeiture based upon the ITSP and mail offenses is not

authorized for transactions that were completed prior to August 23, 2000, the effective date of

CAFRA.  Defendant’s argument is not supported by the case law.  In United States v. Jennings, 487

F.3d 564, 585-586 (8  Cir. 2007), the defendant made a similar argument.  The defendant arguedth

that the vast majority of the mail fraud proceeds ordered forfeited involved payments made prior to

August 23, 2000, and therefore, the forfeiture award could not include the proceeds of the mail fraud

violations that occurred before that date. The Jennings court rejected this argument and held that

“‘[i]n the case of continuing offenses...the Ex Post Facto Clause is not violated by application of a
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statute to an enterprise that began prior to, but continued after, the effective date of the statute.’”

(citing United States v. Garfinkel, 29 F.3d 1253, 1259 (8  Cir. 1994)).  The court found that thereth

was evidence that the mail fraud scheme lasted beyond August 23, 2000, and therefore, the forfeiture

award did not violate the Ex Post Facto Clause. See also United States v. Schlesinger, 396 F.Supp.2d

267, 279-280 (E.D. N.Y. 2005)(there is no ex post facto violation when section 2461(c) is applied

to a conspiracy that straddled the effective date of the statute); and United States v. Duncan, 42 F.3d

97, 104 (2nd Cir. 1994)(not a forfeiture case, but stating that “according to our precedents,

continuing offenses such as conspiracy and bank fraud do run afoul of the Ex Post facto Clause if

the criminal offenses continue after the relevant statute becomes effective”).

In the instant case, the Superseding Indictment alleges that the mail fraud and ITSP

schemes began before the effective date of CAFRA and continued after that date.  Therefore, there

is no Ex Post Facto violation in alleging that all of the funds from the schemes are subject to

forfeiture.   

F. Defendant is not entitled to hearing under Mathews v. Eldridge because he has not
made the requisite showing.  

1. Attorney’s fees are not exempt from federal forfeiture statutes.

The government included the Notices of Forfeiture in the Superseding Indictment

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 981 and 982, and the procedural provisions of

Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, made applicable by Title 28, United States Code, Section

2461.  Specifically, the Government has put defendant on notice that it seeks to forfeit any property

constituting or derived from any proceeds the defendant obtained directly or indirectly from the bank

fraud violations, including $2,700,000; any and all property which constitutes or is derived from
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proceeds traceable to violations of mail fraud, including $7,000,000, and the interstate transportation

of stolen property, including $23,000,000; and all property involved in the money laundering

violations, including $19,205,000.

 In discussing Section 853, the drug forfeiture statute, the Supreme Court has held that

there is no exemption from Section 853's forfeiture or pretrial restraining order provisions for assets

which a defendant wishes to use to retain an attorney.  United States v. Monsanto, 491 US 600, 109

S.Ct. 2657, 2665 (1989).  Similarly, in  Caplin & Drysdale, Chartered v. United States, 491 US 617,

109 S.Ct. 2646, 2652 (1989), the Court stated, “a defendant has no Sixth Amendment right to spend

another person’s money for services rendered by an attorney even if those funds are the only way that

the defendant will be able to retain the attorney of his choice.”  The Court held that the forfeiture

statute, which provides no exception for attorney’s fees, does not impermissibly burden a defendant’s

Sixth Amendment right to retain counsel of his choice.

The Supreme Court noted the unambiguous and mandatory language in Section 853.

“Congress could not have chosen stronger words to express its intent that forfeiture be mandatory

in cases where the statute applied, or broader words to define the scope of what was to be forfeited.”

Monsanto, 109 S.Ct. 2657, 2662.  The Court also stressed the important governmental interest in

obtaining full recovery of all forfeitable assets.  Id. at 2665.  Even though the Court noted the

potential harsh result of the statute, the Court stated, “permitting a defendant to use assets for his

private purpose that, under this provision, will become the property of the United States if a

conviction occurs cannot be sanctioned.”  Id.  

The unambiguous and mandatory language in Section 853 is also found in Title 18,

Sections 981(a)(1)(C) and 982(a)(1), the forfeiture provisions in the Superseding Indictment filed

Case 2:07-cr-00103-EEF-ALC     Document 166      Filed 10/17/2008     Page 10 of 20



11

against Perdigao.  As in Section 853, there is no exception for assets used to pay attorney’s fees in

Sections 981 and 982.  Section 981(a)(1)(C)  states : “[t]he following property is subject to forfeiture

to the United States: Any property, real or personal, which constitutes or is derived from proceeds

traceable to a violation of section [...] 1344 of this title or any offense constituting “specified

unlawful activity”.  Section 982(a)(1) states: “[t]he court, in imposing sentence on a person convicted

of an offense in violation of section 1956, 1957, or 1960 of this title, shall order that the person

forfeit to the United States any property, real or personal, involved in such offense, or any property

traceable to such property.”   Again, as in Section 853, the language in Sections 981 and 982

forfeiture provisions is clear: all assets falling within its scope are to be forfeited with no exception

for assets used to pay attorney’s fees or for anything else. “Note that neither due process nor the

Sixth Amendment right to counsel, requires that assets needed to pay an attorney be exempted from

restraining orders, or ultimately, from forfeiture.”  United States v. Melrose East Subdivision, 357

F.3d 493, 500 (5  Cir. 2004).    th

2. A post-restraint, pretrial hearing is not automatic. To obtain a hearing,
defendant satisfy the factors in Mathews  v. Eldridge.

In light of Monsanto and in keeping with the other circuits, the Fifth Circuit Court

of Appeals in United States v. Holy Land Foundation for Relief and Development, 493 F.3d 469,

475  (5th Cir. 2007), held that “when the Government is seeking forfeiture and secures an indictment

to that effect based on probable cause, a court may issue a restraining order without prior notice or

a hearing.  In some cases, however, due process will require that the district court then promptly hold

a hearing at which the property owner can contest the restraining order, without waiting until trial

to do so.”  To determine when such a hearing is required, the court must weigh the three factors set
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forth in Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319 (1976). These factors are: the private interest that will

be affected by the restraint; the risk of an erroneous deprivation of such interest through procedures

used, and the probable value, if any, of additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and the

government’s interest, including the burdens that the hearing would entail. Id.  Courts that have

relied on and applied the Mathews v. Eldridge test have found that a hearing on the post-indictment

restraining order should not be held unless the defendant makes a preliminary showing.  First, that

he has a specific need for the assets for either attorney’s fees or necessary living expenses, and

second, a prima facie showing of reason to believe the restrained assets are not proceeds, or traceable

to proceeds, of the crimes.  Only if both of these elements are met is the defendant entitled to a

hearing.  United States v. Jones, 160 F.3d 641 (10  Cir. 1998), United States v. Farmer, 274 F.3dth

800 (4  Cir. 2001). Several courts have followed the Jones-Farmer rule. United States v. Yusuf, 199th

Fed. Apps. 127, 132-33 (3d Cir. 2006), United States v. E-Gold Ltd., 2007 WL 2103602, at *2

(D.D.C. 2007), United States v. Jamieson, 189 F.Supp.2d 754, 757 (N.D. Ohio 2002), United States

v. Lewis, 2006 WL 1579855, at *8-10 (D. Minn. 2006), United States v. Wittig, 333 F.Supp.2d

1048, 1051-1051 (D. Kan. 2004), United States v. Varner, 2005 WL 2206083, at *1 (W.D. Va.

2005).

In his amended Motion, defendant acknowledges that Jones is the controlling

analytical framework.  In United States v. Jones, 160 F.3d 641, 647 (10  Cir. 1998), the court statedth

that “Due Process does not automatically require a hearing and a defendant may not simply ask for

one.”  In applying the Mathews v. Eldridge factors, the court found that “the proper balance of

private and government interests requires a post-restraint, pre-trial hearing but only upon a properly

supported motion by a defendant.”  Id. at 645-647.    Specifically, “a defendant must show that [he]
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has no assets, other than those restrained, with which to restrain private counsel and provide for

[himself] and [his] family.”  Id. at 647.  The court noted that if the defendant fails to persuade the

court on this point, then the private interest prong of the Mathews v. Eldridge test is not met. Id.

Second, “[a] defendant must also make a prima facie showing of a bona fide reason to believe the

grand jury erred in determining that the restrained assets” are proceeds, or traceable to proceeds of

the charged offenses.  Id. (emphasis added).

Similarly, a district court in the Eastern District of Tennessee analyzed the second

Jones requirement in light of the legislative history of the restraining order statute, and held that it

was essential to require the defendant to bear the burden of making the initial showing that the

defendant’s property was not lawfully restrained.   In United States v. St. George, 241 F.Supp. 2d

875 (E.D. Tenn. 2003), a defendant indicted in a RICO case sought to amend the pre-trial restraining

order so that she might use a portion of the restrained funds to retain counsel.  In requesting a hearing

on her motion, the defendant took the position that once she had demonstrated to the court’s

satisfaction that she had no other non-restrained assets with which to retain private counsel (the first

Jones requirement), the burden should automatically shift to the United States to demonstrate that

it had probable cause to believe the restrained property was subject to forfeiture.  Id. at 880.

The court rejected defendant’s argument.  Relying on Jones, the court held that “the

burden . . . remains with St. George to make a prima facie showing of a bona fide reason to believe

that the grand jury improperly restrained her assets.”  Id. (quotations and citations omitted).  Finding

that the defendant failed to make even a preliminary showing, the court denied her request for an

evidentiary hearing.  Id. To hold otherwise, the court said, would ignore the purposes behind

Congress’s omission of a hearing requirement from the enactment of the restraining order statute.
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Id. at 881.  Among other things, the court noted that Congress wanted to avoid putting the United

States in the position of risking “damaging premature disclosure of the Government’s case and trial

strategy” and the “safety of witnesses and victims . . . who would be required to testify at the

restraining order hearing.”  Id., quoting the legislative history of Section 1963(d)(1)(A).

The district court in United States v. Causey, 309 F.Supp. 2d 917, 927 (S.D.Tx.

2004), was faced with the issue of whether a criminal defendant  was entitled to a post indictment,

pretrial hearing.  In following the decision in Jones, the district court held that a post-restraint, pre-

conviction “hearing is not required absent a prima facie showing, made through a properly supported

motion, that [defendant] needs the assets for reasonable and necessary legal and/or living expenses,

and that the grand jury erred in determining the assets are either proceeds from or traceable to the

offenses charged in the Superseding Indictment.” Id.  

Accordingly, in order to obtain a post-indictment, pretrial hearing, a defendant must

first demonstrate that he has no other assets, other than those restrained, with which to retain private

counsel and to pay living expenses, and second, the defendant must make a prima facie showing that

the grand jury erred in determining that the restrained assets are subject to forfeiture in accordance

with the forfeiture provisions. Once the defendant satisfies both prongs, then the court is compelled

to hold a hearing where the defendant has the opportunity to prove by a preponderance of the

evidence that the government seized untainted assets without probable cause and that he needs those

same assets to hire counsel. The government is not required to re-establish probable cause at the

hearing because the court must assume that the allegations in the indictment are true.  Furthermore,

the government may simply rely on the indictment and evidentiary affidavit without presenting new

evidence, or may introduce new evidence to controvert the defendant’s evidence. United States v.
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Cherlyn Armstrong Schereer Prejean, et. al., Criminal Action No. 05-130 (July 12, 2005).         

3. Defendant has not demonstrated the need for the restrained funds, and
therefore, defendant has not met the “private interest” factor in
Mathews v. Eldridge. 

Here, defendant Perdigao has not yet made a showing or a need for restrained assets

for either reasonable attorney’s fees or necessary living expenses.  According to Perdigao’s Affidavit

Submitted in Support of the Release of Seized Funds in his original Motion, he stated that he has

only approximately $12,000 in unrestrained assets and that he is currently unemployed.  However,

the Government is aware that defendant has other businesses and investments.  Defendant divulged

to Pretrial Services in October 2004 that he had income from outside investments and other

compensation totaling $30,000, and that his retirement accounts totaled $250,000.  In addition, on

July 24, 2006, defendant completed a Financial Statement of Debtor Form (Form OBD-500-LAE)

where he admitted that he owned various businesses.  He provided the names and the descriptions

of the companies that he wholly owned and from which he has earned income.  (Attached, Exhibit

“A”).  

The government submits that because of Perdigao’s omission to address the existence

of the companies and businesses that he owns and from which he potentially earns income, Perdigao

has not met his burden of persuading this Court that he has no other sources of income with which

he can pay living expenses and attorneys’ fees.  Because Perdigao has failed to prove the private

interest prong of Mathews v. Eldridge, he is not entitled to a hearing.  United States v. Holy Land

Foundation for Relief, 493 F.3d at 476-477 (finding that party did not have a right to request a

hearing because the private interest affected by the restraint was minimal).

Defendant also claims that he is entitled to the release of the funds to pay his tax
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obligation.  Defendant is charged in the Superseding Indictment with four counts (Counts 51 - 54)

of income tax evasion, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7201,  and one count (Count 55) of filing a false

federal tax return, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206.  The Superseding Indictment does not contain

forfeiture notices for these violations because federal income tax criminal statutes do not authorize

the forfeiture of criminal proceeds from these violations.  Defendant is not entitled to the return or

release of the funds seized because funds which are proceeds from these violations are not subject

to forfeiture proceedings.  Although the defendant will be liable for restitution to the Internal

Revenue Service (“IRS”) of approximately $15,000,000.00, which includes penalties and interests

for the crimes charged in the Superseding Indictment if convicted, this should not give support to

the defendant’s request for the return or release of property.  The funds that defendant seeks to be

returned or released to him are proceeds from other criminal activities, i.e., bank fraud, mail fraud,

ITSP, and money laundering, as charged against him which should not be used to pay his tax debt.

Defendant has not provided any statutory law or case law that supports his argument that seized

funds should be released to pay a defendant’s tax liability.  The case law cited by the government

shows that the only bases for the release of funds are to pay for attorney’s fees or for reasonable

living expenses.   

  Further, the government notes that while the defendant has formally entered a plea

of not guilty to all charges including the income tax offenses charges in the Superseding Indictment,

in his original and amended Motion for return or release of property, defendant  still wants to use this

seized property which arose from other crimes to pay his tax liability.  The government submits that

the defendant created this liability himself  by reporting to the IRS that he owed little or no taxes.

 Incredibly, the defendant is confessing his guilt to the income tax charges by admitting in his
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motions that he wants to pay the taxes that are due and owing resulting from the income tax charges

contained in the Superseding Indictment.    

4. Defendant has not demonstrated that the Grand Jury erred in its
determination that the restrained assets constitute proceeds from the
offenses or are involved in the offenses charged in the Superseding
Indictment.

In his original Motion, defendant argues that upon adding all the total amounts

identified in the specific counts charged in the Indictment, the total funds that can be claimed by the

Government is $20,408,720.82.  In his Amended Motion, he claims the total amount the government

can claim is $12,291,279.18.  Therefore, he is entitled to the return of the difference between the

amount of the restrained assets, $29,636,909, and the amounts specifically charged in the Indictment

and the Superseding Indictment. The Superseding Indictment does not charge Perdigao with

additional charges or counts.  A review of the case law reveals that defendant’s argument has no

merit.

The Superseding Indictment alleges that through his bank fraud scheme, Perdigao

defrauded Bank One of approximately $2.7 million from November 2003 to August 2004 (Counts

1 through 12).  In his mail fraud-false billing scheme, it is alleged that Perdigao defrauded Pinnacle

and Boomtown of approximately $7 million from 1993 to October 2004 (Counts 13-30).  In his

scheme to defraud Adams & Reese, the Superseding Indictment alleges that Perdigao fraudulently

obtained approximately $23 million from 1991 to October 2004 (Counts 31 to 40).  Finally, it is

alleged that Perdigao laundered approximately $19,205,000 (Counts 41 to 50). 

Criminal forfeiture and, hence, pretrial restraint of a defendant’s assets, is not limited

by the amount involved in the specific substantive fraud counts alleged in the indictment, as long as
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the amount of proceeds derived from the entire scheme is alleged as well.  United States v. Phillips,

434 F.3d 913, 914-915 (7th Cir. 2006). In Phillips, prior to the filing of the indictment, the

government seized $326,646.77 from the defendant.  After indictment, the defendant filed a motion

for the return of the frozen assets arguing that forfeiture was limited to the amount from the five

specific counts of fraud charged in the indictment totaling $47,947.87.  The government, then, filed

a superseding indictment adding the general allegation that through the defendant’s scheme, he

defrauded Medicare of $1,165,000.00.  There were no additional specific fraud counts or charges in

the superseding indictment.  The court found that the general fraud allegation more than covers the

amount of the frozen assets and concluded that the defendant was not entitled to the return of the

assets.  See United States v. Boesen, 473 F.Supp.2d 932, 952-953 (S.D. Iowa 2007) (forfeiture of

the proceeds of the entire scheme on the ground that it is the scheme and not the separate executions

of the scheme that give rise to the forfeiture).

In the Superseding Indictment, a federal Grand Jury charged Perdigao with several

schemes to defraud. In one scheme, it is alleged that defendant defrauded Bank One by stealing

approximately $2.7 million in checks belonging to Adams & Reese.  In another scheme, it is alleged

that Perdigao defrauded Pinnacle and Boomtown by creating fictitious and false legal billing invoices

from his employer Adams & Reese in order to obtain approximately $7 million from Pinnacle and

Boomtown. Finally, the Superseding Indictment alleges that Perdigao knowingly devised a scheme

to defraud Adams & Reese to obtain approximately $23 million by making unauthorized

withdrawals from Adams & Reese’s bank account and then transferred these unauthorized

withdrawals to other bank accounts controlled by Perdigao.  The total amount Perdigao obtained or

benefitted from all of  these schemes to defraud and from his money laundering charges total to more
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than $30 million, which more than covers the amount of the restrained assets.  As in Boesen, 473

F.Supp.2d at 953,  the government could have charged hundreds of other executions of mail fraud

and bank fraud charges against Perdigao, but the government chose to charge only those executions

that are representative of each scheme.      

III. CONCLUSION

As set forth above, defendant is not entitled to an adversarial pretrial hearing because

he has not met the factors set forth in Mathews v. Eldridge.  He has not yet demonstrated the need

for the restrained assets for  reasonable attorney’s fees or for living expenses.  In the event that the

Court should find that Perdigao has demonstrated the need for the restrained funds, the Court,

should, nevertheless, deny his request for a hearing because he has not demonstrated that the Grand

Jury erred in its determination that the restrained assets are traceable to the fraud schemes or

involved in the money laundering. Accordingly, the Court should DENY defendant’s motion in its

entirety.    

Respectfully Submitted,

JIM LETTEN
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

 /s/ James R. Mann                              
JAMES R. MANN          (20513)
Assistant United States Attorney                   
500 Poydras Street, B210
New Orleans, Louisiana 70130
Telephone: (504) 680-3034
James.Mann@usdoj.gov

 /s/ Salvador Perricone                         
SALVADOR PERRICONE   (10515)
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Assistant United States Attorney
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New Orleans, Louisiana 70130
Telephone: (504) 680-3026
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BRIAN M. KLEBBA               
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500 Poydras Street, B210
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Telephone: (504) 680-3079
Brian.Klebba@usdoj.gov

 /s/ Loan “Mimi” Nguyen                  
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500 Poydras Street, B210
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Telephone: (504) 680-3076
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